



Criteria and measurable indicators to evaluate employability and career opportunities

DELIVERABLE D5.1





Deliverable Leader	UB (UB team: Mirjana Bugarinović, Marijana Petrović, Nikola Stojadinović, Branislav Bošković)		
Internal Reviewer 1	WMP		
Internal Reviewer 2	FF		
Туре	Document		
Work Package	WP5		
ID	D 5.1 Criteria and measurable indicators to evaluate employability and career opportunities		
Due Date	31 st October 2021		
Delivery Date	29 th October 2021		
Status	Submitted		
Dissemination Level	Public		

Document History		
Contributions	UASFHE, DB, WMP, FF.]
Track Change	V1.0	





TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST O	F ABBREVIATIONS
DISCLA	AIMER
1	INTRODUCTION
2	APPROACH AND ACTIVITIES
3	CONCEPTUALISATION
3.1	EMPLOYABILITY CONCEPT - GENERAL VIEW
3.2	EMPLOYABILITY CONCEPT IN THE RAILWAY SECTOR
3.3	EMPLOYABILITY WITHIN STAFFER - CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
3.3.1	DIMENSIONS
3.3.2	CRITERIA
3.3.3	THEMES -SUCCESS FACTORS
4	OPERATIONALISATION
4.1	EMPLOYABILITY METRICS - OVERVIEW OF EXISTING SOURCES
4.2	INITIAL SET OF INDICATORS
4.2.1	EMPLOYABILITY INDICATORS
4.2.2	EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT AND MAPPING TOOL
4.3	EVALUATION OF INDICATORS
4.3.1	METHODOLOGY
4.3.2	RESULTS
4.4	CONSOLIDATED SET OF INDICATORS
5	CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK
6	REFERENCES
7	ANNEX 1 – SURVEY SHEET OF INITIAL SET OF INDICATORS REVIEWING
8	ANNEX 2 - PROCESSING OF INDICATOR ASSESSMENT RESULTS AFTER USING RACER
METHO	DD





TABLE OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1 POSITIONING OF WP5 WITHIN STAFFER
FIGURE 2 STEPS IN COMMON PROCEDURE FOR DEVISING (EMPLOYABILITY) INDICATORS AS
THE BASIS FOR THE ACTIVITIES IN TASK 5.1
FIGURE 3 LINES OF RESEARCH WITHIN TASK 5.1
FIGURE 4 CONCENTRIC CIRCLES OF EMPLOYABILITY CONCEPT
FIGURE 5 EMPLOYABILITY STRATEGIES FROM EMPLOYERS AND EMPLOYEES PERSPECTIVE 19
FIGURE 6 CENTRAL PARTS OF A JOINT RECOMMENDATION "THE CONCEPT OF
EMPLOYABILITY IN THE RAILWAY SECTOR" (CER, EIM, ETF, 2007)
FIGURE 7 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWERK - INITAL PLOT
FIGURE 8 STEPS IN OPERATIONALIZATION OF INDICATORS
FIGURE 9 POSITIONING OF INDICATORS AND USED SOURCES OF INDICATORS IN THE
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
FIGURE 10 SNAPSHOT OF EXCEL TOOL FOR PROCESSING RESULTS OF RACER METHOD FOR
INDICATORS
FIGURE 11 STRUCTURE OF INDICATORS SOURCES AFTER SECOND PHASE OF EVALUATION
FIGURE 12 STRUCTURE OF INDICATORS CRITERIA AFTHER 1ST AND 2ND PHASE OF

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 COMMON DEFINITIONS OF EMPLOYABILITY	. 14
TABLE 2 INITIAL SET OF EMPLOYABILITY INDICATORS	. 32
TABLE 3 AN EXAMPLE OF APPRISAL SCALE FOR EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT	. 35
TABLE 4 INITIAL SET OF INDICATORS AND ITEMS WITHIN EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT	. 36
TABLE 5 EXAMPLE OF EMPLOYABILITY ATTRIBUTES MAPPING TOOL	. 37
TABLE 6 AN EXAMPLE OF APPRISAL SCALE FOR ATTRIBUTES IN EMPLOYABILITY MAPPI	NG
TOOL	. 38





TABLE 7 INITIAL SET OF EMPLOYABILTY ATTRIBUTES FOR MAPPING TOOL
TABLE 8 SET OF EMPLOYABILITY INDIACTORS NEWLY ADDED AFTER THE PHASE 1 42
TABLE 9 SET OF ITEMS FOR EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT AND ATTRIBUTES FOR MAPPING TOOLNEWLY ADDED AFTER THE FIRST PHASE
TABLE 10 GENERAL ASSESSMENT OUTCOME
TABLE 11 SET OF ITEMS WHICH AS BEEN FULLY OR CONDITIONALY ACCEPTED FROMPARTICIPANS WITH A REQUEST FOR THEIR REVISION46
TABLE 12 SET OF CONSOLIDATED SET OF EMPLOYABILITY INDICATORS
TABLE 13 SET OF CONSOLIDATED SET OF THE ITEMS FOR EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT
TABLE 14 SET OF CONSOLIDATED SET OF THE ATTRIBUTES FOR EMPLOYABILITY MAPPING TOOL 49





LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Meaning	
CDL	Comprehensive Distance Learning	
CER	Community of European Railway and Infrastructure Companies	
CEDEFOP	European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (Centre Européen pour le Développement de la Formation Professionnelle)	
CVET	Continuing Vocational Education and Training	
CVTS	Continual Vocational Training Survey	
DB	Deutsche Bahn AG	
EACEA	European Education and Culture Executive Agency	
EDO	Employment Development Opportunities	
EFQM	European Foundation for Quality Management	
EIM	European Rail Infrastructure Managers	
ETF	European Training Foundation	
EQAVET	European Quality Assurance in Vocational Education and Training	
EU SILC	European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions	
E&T or ET	Education and Training	
FLP	Flexible Learning Program	
HR	Human Resource	
ILO	International Labour Organization	
IVET	Initial Vocational Education and Training	
ISCED	International Standard for Classification of EDucation	





Г

ISCO	International Standard for Classification of Occupations	
LFS	Labour Force Survey	
LMP	Labour Market Policy	
LMS	Learning Management System	
NGL	Next-Generation Learning	
NEET	Not in Education, Employment or Training	
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	
PoV	Point of View	
RACER	Relevant, Accepted, Credible, Easy and Robust	
SNCF	Société Nationale des Chemins de Fer (French National Railway Company)	
VET	Vocational Education and Training	
WBL	Work-based learning	
WIL	Work-integrated learning	
WMP	WMP consult – Wilke Maack GmbH	
WP	Working Package	
UB	University of Belgrade	
UASFHE	University of Applied Science Fachhochschule Erfurt	





DISCLAIMER

The views represented in this document only reflect the views of the authors and not the views of EACEA and the European Commission. EACEA and the European Commission are not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained in this document. Furthermore, the information is provided "as is" and no guarantee or warranty is given that the information fit for any particular purpose. The user of the information uses it as its sole risk and liability.

COPYRIGHT DESIGNATION

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-SA). This license allows reusers to distribute, remix, adapt, and build upon the material in any medium or format for noncommercial purposes only, and only so long as attribution is given to the creator. If you remix, adapt, or build upon the material, you must license the modified material under identical terms.

- CC BY-NC-SA includes the following elements:
- BY Credit must be given to the creator
- NC Only noncommercial uses of the work are permitted
- SA Adaptations must be shared under the same terms





1 INTRODUCTION

Employability was spotlighted in the 1990s' when it became not only important for unemployed or deprived persons but for all active population. Employability became a core labour market instrument and alternative to job security. At the end of 20th century employability has become one of the 'pillars' of the European Employment Strategy (firstly adopted in 1997 and today a constituting part of the Europe 2020 growth Strategy). Bearing in mind that, the question can be raised: how the employability as a phenomenon in railway sector is treated? Moreover, in context of STAFFER project, this question can be transformed as: what the level of education and skills of railway staff is needed in modern railway?

The overall aim of WP 5 is to validate the new and/or updated mobility and training paths, programmes and curricula developed in WP 4 specifically aiming to increase employability and career opportunities. It is a part of Phase 2 of the STAFFER project titled Mobility and training programmes design and implementation with three WPs:

- WP 4: Development of mobility and programmes
- WP 5: Validation of mobility and training programmes for effectively increasing employability and career opportunities
- WP6: Implementation of training and mobility programmes

The flow of the STAFFER entails the following: based on the identification of current and future skills and competence needs for the whole rail sector (WP2 and WP3), developing suitable training and education programmes (WP4), and validating them for effectively increasing employability and career opportunities (WP5). Namely, WP5 is about embedding employability perspective in the process of developing (WP4) and implementing (WP6) new and/or updated ET programmes in the rail sector (Figure 1).

On the road to an approach to assess employability and career opportunities of rail related ET programmes, WP5 includes four tasks. First, a methodological umbrella to consider is developed (Task 5.1); then, in parallel, the assessment of employability and career opportunities is performed by rail operators and infrastructure managers in Task 5.2, and by rail suppliers in Task 5.3. Synthesis provided by Task 5.4 will provide the outputs of WP5 as a feedback mechanism to better tune the mobility and training programmes developed in WP4 running, partially, in parallel. The timeline follows the conceptual setting of WP5. Task 5.1. runs first from





M7 to M12, 5.2. and 5.3 run in parallel from M13 to M24, while Task 5.4. is from M25 till the end of the project (M48).



FIGURE 1 POSITIONING OF WP5 WITHIN STAFFER

This document is the output of the Task 5.1. - D.5.1. Criteria and measurable indicators to evaluate employability and career opportunities. It is structured as follows. First an approach to the task introduced - from the initial idea to final setting according to the inputs from involved project partners. Rest of the documents follows two phases of the approach: conceptualization and operationalization. The document ends with the consolidated set of criteria and indicators. Throughout the document all contributions and valuable inputs from project partners are acknowledged.

At last but not least the consolidated set of criteria and indicators, as a result of this task, railway operators and infrastructure managers as well as suppliers will use for assessment of employability and career opportunities mobility and training programmes in tasks 5.2 and 5.3. The consolidated set of indicators will be fine-tuned during these tasks and a harmonised set will be the result of WP5. So, finally we can say the result of this deliverable is a living set of criteria and indicators to evaluate employability and career opportunities.





2 APPROACH AND ACTIVITIES

The work on WP5 started in mid-March 2021 with the set of regular (monthly) meetings of WP5 core partners (UASFHE, DB, Alstom and UB) as preparatory phase for official start of WP5 in May 2021. The aim was to set basis for the approach in terms of actives within constituting tasks and assuring their effective mutual interconnection as well as connection with other WPs¹.

Having that the Task 5.1 is the first one and predecessor of other tasks in WP5, discussion was mainly focused on approach and activities within 5.1. The "quest" for proper approach started with the common procedure for devising indicators which is also acknowledged in the field of employability [16] (Figure 2).



FIGURE 2 STEPS IN COMMON PROCEDURE FOR DEVISING (EMPLOYABILITY) INDICATORS AS THE BASIS FOR THE ACTIVITIES IN TASK 5.1.

Note: steps 5, 6 and 7 in the procedure overlap with tasks 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4 in order to ensure the operability (applicability) of devised indicators.

Throughout meetings² and feedbacks it was agreed to break Task 5.1. into two phases *Conceptualisation* and *Operationalization*. In simple, the first one is about what is being measured and the second is about how it is going to be measured. Both phases entail several steps with similar underlying idea: assemble state of the art - body of knowledge different views on employability concept and indicators, enrich it with insights from rail sector perspective and finally nest it the STAFFER's objectives. The rationale behind is that employability is a complex concept that strongly depends to the context in which it is immersed. The aim is not to embrace every aspect of employability but those that are in line with STAFFER and particularly the

² several meetings were held such as at 2021 in March 16th , April 8th, May 12th , July 16th, October 11th , etc. (MoM at project repository)



¹ UASFHE and Alstom are co-leaders at WP5.



objective of WP5 Validation of mobility and training programmes for effectively increasing employability and career opportunities.

In addition, some insights from STAFFER already indicated the need to come to first understanding on what employability means before proceeding to criteria and indicators. A feedback from WP1 on a proposition to include the question on how employability is seen from the rail suppliers and operators was "we do not have any definition on employability as this means different things for different people" once again pointed to the need to define this term in the STAFFERS project and particularly at task 5.1. Also, experiences from existing studies (including some ERASMUS + reports, like Emple-AP [1]) point to the need to start work on employability metrics with comprehensive analysis on employability concept.

In line with this report employability is broader investigated to explain the general views of its construct before proceeding to nesting it within STAFFER and particularly WP5. The aim of this document is not solely to offer a set of criteria and measurable indicators of employability and career opportunities but to, in broader sense, communicate a gathered body of knowledge on employability concept and issues of measurement between WP5 and other project partners and to pave the way towards common understanding on employability both from conceptual and operational point of view.

In line, within the conceptualisation phase of Task 5.1. is conducted two main and one supportive line of research, were conducted in parallel (Figure 3)

1) Employability concept	2) Employability metrics	+1 Communication tools
Nesting employability concept within STAFFER	Existing indicators	Tools in help for getting consensus on the indicator se

FIGURE 3 LINES OF RESEARCH WITHIN TASK 5.1.

It is a kind of a "rotated view" of the common approach which entails three consecutive lines defining, understanding and measuring, where metrics are used to better understand the concept as well. A supportive line of research is in regard to finding proper tool that will be in help for gathering opinions of a number of partners in STAFFER coming from the field of education and training representatives as well as from rail operators and rail suppliers. Findings from each line are summarized in dedicated sections of the report.





3 CONCEPTUALISATION

3.1 Employability concept - general view

Employability is a complex social construct with no consensus on how it should be understood, measured and managed. It was coined in 1950s and at the beginning it was associated with problems of short supply of qualified personnel and employing disadvantaged people.³ In the early 1970's the focus shifted to individual potential (having right occupational knowledge and skill) as to become (and stay) employed [9]. During the 1980s the companies started focusing on the employability concept. Employability was embraced as HR instrument for coping with perpetual changes in the field of work. It was mostly about achieving functional flexibility of employees i.e. increasing the skill inventory of staff in such a way that in the outcome the employees acquire the capacity to work across traditionally distinct occupational boundaries [4].

Employability was spotlighted in the 1990s' when it became not only important for unemployed or deprived persons but for all active population. Employability became a core labour market instrument and alternative to job security. At the end of 20th century employability has become one of the 'pillars' of the European Employment Strategy (firstly adopted in 1997 and today a constituting part of the Europe 2020 growth Strategy). The four pillars are employability, entrepreneurship, adaptability and equal opportunities [5].

Today employability encompasses both individual and contextual factors, ranging from purely personal aspects such as competency (knowledge, skills and personal attributes) to labour market conditions and trends (like aging/demographic shifts, digitalization, globalization, offshoring and climate change).

Trying to answer the question what it takes and makes a successful career resulted in adding more and more related 'ingredients' in the employability characterisation and made it very much fuzzy [9]. As a result scholars, international organizations, labour unions etc. at all levels engaged on quest for defining and understanding employability. In Table 1 common definitions of employability coming from these sources are presented. It is important to stress that these are

³ Some authors argue that the term 'Employability' was introduced even earlier, at the beginning of the twentieth century in Great Britain [10]





not nearly all the definitions that can be found but rather small selection aimed to portray the interest of different parties and interlinks in their perceptions.

TABLE 1	COMMON	DEFINITIONS	OF EMPL	OYABILITY

Source:	Definition:
Outin (1990)	Employability is a construct of four elements that influence one's chances to become and/or remain active on the labour market: individual qualities (relational, motivational), occupation-specific skills, labour market situation and government and employer training policies.
CEDEFOP (2008)	 Employability refers to the combination of factors which enable individuals to progress towards or gain employment, to stay in employment and to progress during their career. Employability of individuals depends on: personal attributes (including adequacy of knowledge and skills); how these personal attributes are presented on the labour market; environmental and social context (incentives and opportunities offered to update and validate their knowledge and skills); and
De Grip et al. (2004)	Comment from the education and training perspective, factors include learning outcomes (knowledge, skills and competences) and their relevance to the labour market, learning incentives and learning opportunities Employability involves the capacity and the willingness of workers to remain attractive for the labour market (supply factors), by reacting and anticipating on changes in tasks and work environment (demand factors), facilitated by the human resource development instruments offered to them (institutions) Employability of workers is the shared responsibility of individual workers and
Weinberg (2004)	of the firms that employ them Employability encompasses the skills, knowledge and competencies that enhance the ability of workers to get and keep a job, improve their work and adapt to change, secure another job if they want or get laid off, and get work more easily in the market in different periods of their life
Werner et al., (2004)	Employability is a broad concept and means adaptable and updated competencies and labour market-oriented behaviour for every person participating in the workforce; most usually, employability policies combine training, further training, re-training, career advice, placement and incentives/subsidising programmes.





r

Harvey (1999)	Employability of a graduate is the propensity of the graduate to exhibit
	attributes that employers anticipate will be necessary for the future effective
	functioning of their organization.
Kuo et al. (2014)	Employability is the embodiment in an individual of the capability to maintain
	the ongoing acquisition of knowledge, skills, and positive attitudes and to
	properly translate learning experiences into such forms, so as to maintain
	demonstrations of the performances expected by enterprises on being
	employed (definition for solar industry)
Hillage&Pollard (1998)	Employability is the ability of individuals to get a first job, maintain
	employment, move between roles within the same organization, get a job if
	required and ideally ensure an adequate and sufficiently satisfactory job
Forrier et al. (2015)	Employability is "an individual's chance of a job in the internal and/or external
	labour market"
(CER, EIM, ETF, 2010)	"The notion of employability addresses capacities, skills and qualifications that
	can be acquired and built on. In short, this is the way to maximise one's
	opportunities within a company and in the labour market as a whole."
(Yorke, 2004)	Employability' is not just about student employment -it is far wider than that. It
	should be understood as: 'a set of achievements - skills, understandings and
	personal attributes – that make graduates more likely to gain employment
	and be successful in their chosen occupations, which benefits themselves, the
	would also approximite and the approximit
	workforce, me commonly and me economy
unknown	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills
unknown	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is
unknown	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability.
unknown (HRD Recommendation,	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004)	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004)	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004)	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress within the enterprise and between jobs, and to cope with changing technology
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004)	Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress within the enterprise and between jobs, and to cope with changing technology and labour market conditions."
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004) Pegg et al. (2012)	 Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress within the enterprise and between jobs, and to cope with changing technology and labour market conditions." Employability is a set of achievements – skills, understandings and personal
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004) Pegg et al. (2012)	 Workforce, the community and the economy Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress within the enterprise and between jobs, and to cope with changing technology and labour market conditions." Employability is a set of achievements – skills, understandings and personal attributes – that makes graduates more likely to gain employment and be
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004) Pegg et al. (2012)	 Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress within the enterprise and between jobs, and to cope with changing technology and labour market conditions." Employability is a set of achievements – skills, understandings and personal attributes – that makes graduates more likely to gain employment and be successful in their chosen occupations, which benefits themselves, the workforce,
unknown (HRD Recommendation, ILO, 195 (2004) Pegg et al. (2012)	 Workforce, me community and me economy Employability relates to the teaching and learning of a wide range of skills and attributes to support continued learning and career development. This is achieved through the creation of a pedagogy for employability. "Employability relates to portable competencies and qualifications that enhance an individual's capacity to make use of the education and training opportunities available in order to secure and retain decent work, to progress within the enterprise and between jobs, and to cope with changing technology and labour market conditions." Employability is a set of achievements – skills, understandings and personal attributes – that makes graduates more likely to gain employment and be successful in their chosen occupations, which benefits themselves, the workforce, the community and the economy.





With growing interest in employability and "piling" of definitions several studies tried to perform stratification of the existing employability explanations resulting on three broad groups of definitions [51]. The first one, sometimes referred as 'core' definitions focus on individual characteristics - capacity and willingness to be successful in a diversity of jobs. The second one is broader view definitions that strive to add a future perspective to the concept and do it mostly around the ability to cope with the dynamics of changing of jobs. The third collection is labelled as "all-embracing" definitions as encompasses both individual characteristics, contextual conditions (e.g. the employer provision of training) and external factors (labour market conditions) [9]. Contextual conditions are also labelled as 'effectuation conditions', i.e. the conditions under which individuals can effectuate their employability (e.g. career counselling and the provision of training courses) [10]. Acknowledging effectuation conditions is about overcoming employers' tendency to view employability as primarily a characteristic of the individual and neglecting opportunities offered to individuals to realise his or her aspirations and potential in work [44]. This further extends on the working conditions in terms that individual characteristics are likely to change over the life course and working conditions need to be transformed to eliminate the factors that discourage or hinder workers from staying in or entering the workforce. This is embraced by the concept of 'sustainable work' developed by EUROFOND among others [22]. In the core is reaching living and working conditions that support people in engaging and remaining in work throughout an extended working life. An example of a question in interest is providing instruments and mechanisms that will enable and motivate people to extend their working lives (like partial retirement schemes).

The majority of the approaches in the literature are on track of core definitions and broader view definitions. This broader view means that employability is not only about current range of workers qualifications (also referred as employability radius) but also about futural perspective - personal competencies needed to improve the workers' employability, especially their learning and career planning competencies [51]. The approaches that strive to include futural perspective in the employability setting introduce the concept of employability skills (also labelled as career management competences) as a key to survive in labour market. Employability skills determine whether workers are able and ready to use opportunities beyond their current employability radius. There are various terms associated with employability skills. It is important to differ between 'core' and 'generic' employability skills. While 'core' skills are discipline (or job) specific skills, 'generic' skills represent 'the so-called transferable (also labelled portable) skills that can support study in any discipline (or for any occupation) [57]. Examples of these transferable skills are different cognitive (e.g. problem solving) or social skills that are not only important in obtaining a job, but also in keeping it and in eventually moving on to the next one.





However, the minority of approaches to studying employability take effectuation factors and contextual conditions. The reason is that causal effects may be not easy to investigate as in case of trainings. From the employers' perspective investing in training is "tricky" and sometimes referred as 'employability paradox' - investments in workers' transferable skills imply that other 'poaching' firms will reap part of the benefits of the training investments. Another concern from the perspective of employers is that they often do not know what trainings to choose to improve the employability of their employers. The term "improve employability" can be imply as: (1) learn and adapt to the current job to comply with changed regulations, (2) adapting to gradual changes in technology or market and (3) accept and empower to deal with disturbances and revolutionary change.

Another, but similar, stream addressing stratification of employability comes from the education field (predominately tertiary level). It is built around the question is employability an institutional achievement or a 'propensity of the individual student to get employment' [16]. The debate is also based on the critique of employment rates as the main employability indicators. In this context the so called "magic bullet of employers. Within this framework employability is underpinned by employment development opportunities (e.g. career services, work-experience opportunities) offered by educational providers and experience along with extra-curriculum activities. Within this framework employers are seen as those who convert the `employability' of the graduate into employment where the central part is recruitment process. To a certain degree the different views and definitions of employability seem to concentrate on the individual (qualitative dimension) and social/sectorial responsibility (quantitative dimension). This sort of resembles the economic principle of demand and offer. A perfectly trained apprentice/student could lack employable qualities if he/she is just choosing a field not in demand.

Besides embedding employability attributes in the course of education it also needs to be nurtured further through continuous professional development. Back to education this means empowering students as a critical life-long learner's by embedding employability skills in the curriculum [9]. This again goes back to EDO's and changing traditional patterns of education by adding more learning opportunities and activities (self-study, participation in lectures, attending specialized career-advising workshops or participating in work-integrated learning (WIL) programmes). Teaching methodologies in support of these changes can be derived from digitalization of learning (online and modularized education and training) but also in traditional pedagogic context (like small group teaching) [9]. However the effects are much dependant on recruitment practices. Although many scientific approaches are more and more embedded in





the recruitment many sources report that there are still biases in the process (age, gender, ethnicity or educational establishment).

One of the approaches to include some clarification in the employability construct is through three conceptual components that can be seen as concentric circles (Figure 4).



FIGURE 4 CONCENTRIC CIRCLES OF EMPLOYABILITY CONCEPT

(based on [51] and [12])

This illustration implies that in order to encompass all aspects there is a need to go beyond current the employability radius and include future perspective, effectuation conditions and trends.

Although offering an insightful view on employability construct the *circles* tell little about the distinction between the perspective of employers and employees. One of possible distinctions is to associate employers with one of three employability strategies: broadening, selling and consuming, and accordingly employees as broadeners, sellers and consumers (as presented in Figure 5). The logic behind is that both employers and employees have their own approach towards employability, going from (simply put) continuous learning and enhancing employability to no engagement. From the perspective of employers broadening strategy means providing training opportunities and stimulation to participate in them (time and/or money) even outside the formal ET offer. The selling strategy suggests that employees are focused on providing constant information about new job offers (vacancies) within and even outside the company and mostly without additional training. The consuming strategy implies in fact the absence of a strategy i.e. no actions in terms of training nor information on vacancies and relying on ad-hoc





activities like moving employees to another job or urging them to leave. Similar employees can be characterized as broadeners (highly interested and engaged in training), sellers (changing jobs without additional education and training) and consumers (endeavouring to stay at the same job with the same competencies until hopefully early retirement). However, it is important to highlight that this distinction is rather theoretical and in practice it is difficult to find 'pure' examples of such strategies and 'types' of employees. Nevertheless, it adds to the fact that the enhancing employability is dependent on changing the mind-set of both employers and employees and is heavily grounded ET enhancing culture.

An important conclusion coming from the literature is that broad definitions and in line with a broadening strategy of employers is associated with education-enhancing culture i.e. broadening the employability radius of employers by not just adjusting the offer of formal education but also facilitating further trainings and life-long learning opportunities. Some go even further with including an array of work support and learning activities beyond the ones that are occupation specific, aimed overall learning competences like self-management.

The differences in perspectives can be summarized in two focuses that the discussion moves around: focus is upon the individual 's characteristics and 'readiness' for work, or upon the factors influencing a person getting into a job, moving jobs or improving in their job [44].

Employers	Employees
broadening strategy	broadeners
Companies which provide a wide array of specific	Employees who are 'heavy' users of education and
and general training activities (even beyond formal	training opportunities even without the clear
offer), facilitate and stimulate participation of their	anticipation of the benefits
employees.	
selling strategy	sellers
Companies which help employers to find other paid	Employees who move easily within the labour market
jobs inside or outside the organization and without an	without extra training
evident further training.	
consuming strategy	consumers
Companies which focus on exploiting current	Employees who remain with the same competencies
competencies of employees and ad-hoc offering new	throughout work life until (hopefully early) retirement.
job or urging to leave.	

Employability strategies from employers and employee's perspective

FIGURE 5 EMPLOYABILITY STRATEGIES FROM EMPLOYERS AND EMPLOYEES PERSPECTIVE

(based on [51])





The strong impetus to enhancing employability through education and training in order to meet current and future labour market challenges was given by Strategic Framework for European cooperation in Education and Training for the next decade ("ET 2020"). Within the implementation of the framework indicators for measuring the contribution of Education and Training systems to employability including benchmarks.

Key points from analysing general views on employability:

- Employment and employability are not the same thing and should be differentiated. Employability can be seen as dynamic version of employment, going beyond getting a job and focusing on career development [3, 53]. Being employed means having a job, being employable means having all needed to maintain employment and progress in the workplace⁴. Higher employability is seen as a precondition for achieving an increased employment rate but it is not straightforward.
- Employability is a multidimensional and complex concept. Employability encompasses features of preparation for employment, staying in employment and progressing in employment. Drivers of employability come from characteristics of individuals as well as the effectuation conditions within educational and employers' setting end even at the level of society. Accordingly, employability is a shared responsibility.
- Employability can be seen as labour market instrument (also labelled as external employability) and HR instrument (i.e. internal employability). In simple terms the first view is focused on 'employment for all' while the second is focused on coping with perpetual changes in the field of work (especially ones coming from digitalization).
- Employability is strongly linked to human capital, notably employability skills that go beyond sector or occupation specific skills.
- Employability is strongly linked to education and training. Employability needs to be translated into improving and adapting education and vocational training to new conditions and forms of work and the implementation of lifelong learning principles.

3.2 Employability concept in the railway sector

Employability concept in the rail sector was endorsed by CER, EIM and ETF. As the follow up of two study projects carried out in 2000/2001 and 2005/2006 on the usability of employability





concept for rail sector a joint recommendation "The concept of employability in the railway sector" was signed in 2007, including five joint recommendations, see figure 6 below [53]. It is currently being revisited within the project "Employability in the Railway Sector in the Light of Digitalisation and Automation (EDA Rail).⁵ The aim of the project and the accompanying research is to develop an updated understanding of employability for the railway sector that takes into account needs and requirements from the perspective of individual employees and workers as well as from the perspective of companies and HR management.

Another, CER, EIM and ETF project that address employability in rail with focus on specific factors is about demographic change (published in December 2010, [24]). The study report highlights that employability should be the core element of modern HR policies in rail companies, but also emphasizes the existence of misunderstanding confounding the "capability to work and employability". Within the section on employability concept the report emphasizes that it is about capacities, skills and qualifications that can be acquired and built on with the aim to maximise one's opportunities within a company and in the labour market as a whole."

Important findings on employability in rail come from the study on promoting employment in rail sector (ETF, CER) that was commissioned by the social partner in the context of a joint project and published in 2016, [25].). While the strategy highlights mutual responsibility of unions, employers and employees it seems focussed on preserving the status quo and lacks the incorporation of change and coping with new technologies and conditions. On the other hand, the study indicates that the image and attractiveness of the railway sector and efforts to promote employment and quality of work in the sector in the European Union are influenced by political, technological and socio-economic trends. The attractiveness of the sector as an employer is influenced by public perceptions of the quality-of-service provision, an insider outside split exists and more positive perceptions by young workers are encouraging. Finally, the study also showed that for all rail security staff is the most important factor in terms of the attractiveness of the sector, a factor which may be undermined by policy developments.

It is also important to point to the activities of the EU social partners on promoting women in rail. This started with research studies about the situation of female workers in railways, annual monitoring reports about female employment trends (6th annual report published in 2020, [26]).

⁵The project started in March 2020 and runs for 18 months. Expected results are about new joint recommendation on the concept of employability and decision on follow-up actions; mapping the employability factors with focus on digitalisation and automation and tracking good practices in the field of change management and employability and just transition, with the objective to maintain attractive working conditions in the sector. Details about the project can be found at:<u>https://docplayer.net/195825382-Employability-in-the-railway-sector-in-the-light-of-digitalisation-and-automation-eda-rail.html and https://www.etf-europe.org/activity/employability-in-the-railway-sector-in-the-light-of-digitalisation-and-automation/</u>





As highlighted in the last report the purpose is to follow the development of women's employment in the European railway sector, to measure the impact of the Joint Recommendations from 2007 on "a better participation and integration of women in the rail sector" and to motivate railway companies to act and to develop a corporate policy to attract more women which in 2018 accounted for 21.41% of workers in 28 surveyed rail companies. During the last years negotiations of a joint autonomous framework agreement of ETF and CER took place and it was concluded on June 9 2021 [27].

- 1. The railway companies in Europe should use the strategy of employability as developed in this memorandum as a central theme for human resources policy and thereby package the various instruments for *personnel and organisation development* into an *integrated* approach.
- 2. Employability as a strategic concept is based on prevention and aims to create a working environment which maintains and improves the capacity of the workers in respect of qualifications and competences as well as health and fitness in order to be 'employable' in general terms. The responsibility is a shared responsibility of the company, the employees, works councils and trade unions.
- 3. Aims, principles and framework conditions for the implementation of the strategy into operational practice should be agreed on the basis of social dialogue between the social partners in order to allow the benefit of the approach to be effective for both parties i.e. the company and the workers.

FIGURE 6 CENTRAL PARTS OF A JOINT RECOMMENDATION "THE CONCEPT OF EMPLOYABILITY IN THE RAILWAY SECTOR" (CER, EIM, ETF, 2007)

It is still an evolving concept but with some fundamental principles set that imply broader and even and all-embracing view on employability including both individual characteristics and effectuation conditions.

Deeper investigation of employment in rail factors come from human capital series of reports elaborated for the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking It contains six reports [28] that address three core issues enhancing sustainable employment, human resource policy and skills gaps. Several conclusions are of importance for setting criteria and indicators for measuring employability:

• Foresight and forecasting studies show clear discrepancies with the actual tendencies in employment and skilling. The forecasters see other things than current statistics show in terms of up skilling. This implies that technological change is putting emphasis on futural perspective i.e. skills and competencies demand that will continue to rise. In such circumstances the education and training system will have to be ready to offer efficient and effective solutions to emerging skills needs;





- Actions aimed at lifelong learning, work-based learning (learning from real practice) and Next-Generation Learning (NGL)⁶ actions are crucial to address emerging technologies and adapting to new organisational and emerging skill needs; Training should be accompanied by pre- and post- assessment of competences of employees (e.g. digital passports);
- fostering a better match between the human resources needs and the offer of skills coming out of the different research-based education and training institutions across Europe;
- faster upscaling of knowledge (from 1 person to many persons);
- employers more focused on non-academic stuff (like train drivers), example of rail logistics Lifelong Learning Program at Newcastle University, UK;
- education more directed towards a greater degree of universality of knowledge that enables mobility (more digital literacy, language and communication competencies).

3.3 Employability within STAFFER - conceptual framework

Based on insightful findings from the literature and series of consultations with rail operators and suppliers⁷ conceptual framework for devising employability criteria and indicators is set as in Figure 7. As employability is a complex social construct but also widely studied both in terms of definition and measuring the idea was to put existing employability metrics under evaluation end extract those relevant for STAFFER. Simply put the existing metric are put under 'double lenses': of employability dimensions and criteria on one side and success factors on other side.

⁷ In July 2021, the first draft of conceptual framework was presented twice, once to the WP5 core team and once to all partners involved in the WP5. The final conceptual framework is the result of harmonization of opinions of all participants in WP5.



⁶ NGL is new learning method that overcomes standard classroom-based training approaches. It is aimed at individualizing training and education by the means of blended learning methods, modularised teachings, regularly (compartmentalized) assessments of competences, e-learning based on improved LMS, etc. It is aimed also towards non-academic staff like train drivers. Examples from SNCF and DB.





FIGURE 7 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWERK - INITAL PLOT

(Abbreviations: Qv – Qualitative, Qn-Quantitative, PI-Performance Indicator, WBL-Work Based Learning, FLP-Flexible Learning Pathways, NGL – Next Generation Learning, CDL – Carrier Development Learning, EDO's – Employment Development Opportunities)

3.3.1 Dimensions

As presented within section 3.1 there are several definitions of employability. The most exploited is the one provided by Cedefop and also included in STAFFER Glossary of key project terms and concepts: "Employability refers to the combination of factors which enable individuals to progress towards or gain employment, to stay in employment and to progress during their career." Accordingly, three key dimensions are included in the framework:

- Get a job refers to two main aspects preparation for employment in terms of education and training and transition from education to work;
- Keep a job (stay in employment)
- Build a career (progress in employment)

They refer to three main stages in employment and add a dynamic dimension to it. Expert group of EC on skills for jobs labels these dimensions as "get in" to work, "stay in" work and "get on" (i.e. progress through the labour market into better jobs). It is important to note that some sources also imply three dimensions suggest different labelling. For example, EC [41] identifies three stages: preparation of employment; transition from education to work and staying in employment and progressing in career. Regardless the labelling and grouping of the dimensions, employability is a dynamic version of employment were getting a job i.e. becoming employed is just a first step towards building career which is the new name for job security.

Nevertheless, a paragraph on the different dimensions and situations could help and support more detailed work in Task 5.2 and Task 5.3, e.g. highlighting:





- change of tasks and job acc. age and mobility of the employee,
- change of expertise (e. g. from train driver to dispatcher or manager),
- development in responsibility or expertise vs. "simple" changes of jobs/companies,
- career vs. employment biography.

3.3.2 Criteria

Common to all employability definitions is that they highlight the existence of different factors and conditions from personal attributes to labour market conditions and even broader context of socio-economic aspects. As pointed out by one of the STAFFER partners (rail supplier) "Employability includes <u>all activities</u> that help people staying relevant for jobs in the company or industry in a changing business environment; Careers includes <u>all activities</u> that support people accelerating towards with higher impact and responsibility." This entails (based on the discussion with the same partners) that indicators should capture both learning environment as well as its reflection on the job (e.g. in terms of skills match).

This standpoint is embedded in the employability criteria which will further lead to employability indicators. Based on CEDEFOPs elaboration on associating EQAVET indicators and two groups of criteria from EFQM excellence model [29] two types of criteria are considered: enablers and results. The reason behind is to cover both the enablers or in employability terms effectuation conditions (e.g. employment development opportunities or partnership with employers) and results reflected on the labour market (e.g. Workers helped to improve their work by training – CEDEFOP indicator).

3.3.3 Themes -success factors

Focus on success factors and building indicators as success indicators was an objective set in the initial meeting of WP5. This was addressed by the intention to cover employability enhancing activities with proposed indicators. Previous findings indicate several broad areas on the topic [17]:

- career development learning and support (usually via the agency of careers services);
- embedded attribute development in the programme often as the result of modifications to curricula to make attribute development explicit or to accommodate employer inputs;
- innovative provision of work experience opportunities;
- enabled reflection on experience, attribute development and achievement





In addition, coming from Shift2Rail (section 3.2) NGL and Flexible learning pathways (ability to switch from one to another module or learning area) are also considered as a success factor.

The proposed conceptual framework was presented along with the list of employability metrics and agreed among WP5 partners in the middle of Task 5.1 time frame. Some of the partners suggested that the initial set of indicators should be clustered according to the way they are measured, quantitative and qualitative measures of the indicators. This observation was taken into account and included in the revised initial list of indicators.







4 OPERATIONALISATION

The operationalisation phase is divided in three main sub-phases (steps) as presented in Figure 8) and described below.



FIGURE 8 STEPS IN OPERATIONALIZATION OF INDICATORS

In the first step the initial set of indicators was prepared regarding measuring all relevant processes that influence employability and skills in rail sector. The sources of the most important European and global institutions such as OECD, European Commission (together with General Directorates and relevant agencies), ILO, ETF, World Bank, their strategies and policies were considered. A separate analysis of some good practices on measuring the uptake of employability within education programmes (so-called employability toolkits) is also included.

In the second step, STAFFERS' partners had the opportunity to review the initial set and to add or to change suggested indicators, after which, in the third step, partners approached the evaluation of the initial set using the RACER method. Based on the results of this evaluation a consolidated set of indicators, also including employability toolkit (audit and mapping tool), is obtained.

Each step is described in the separate subsections that follow.

4.1 Employability metrics - overview of existing sources

The complexity of the employability concept is reflected in the ways how it is measured. How it is measured depends on a way that it is perceived (individual vs. institutional achievement, labour market vs. HR instrument, etc.). From the appraisal perspective, review of employability concept (presented in section 3.1.) implies that indicator may differ depending on the perspective [12].





- from the point of view of society and the government, employability is an indicator of the chance of full employment,
- for an employer, employability is an indicator of the possibility of matching labour offer and demand, or
- for individual (student or employee), employability is an indicator of the chance of a job or a career.

Important insights come from the existing indicators sets. The indicators and instruments for collecting data can be adjusted to measure different scopes - from macro-economic trends to targeted surveys. From the perspective of labour market, employability could be monitored by following indicators sets:

- World indicators of skills for employment and productivity (WISE),
- Skills for jobs indicators (by OECD),
- The Torino process indicators (European Training Foundation),
- STEP indicators (Skills toward Employment and Productivity. Skills measurement survey by the World Bank),
- ET 2020 indicators and benchmarks.

Another stream are indicators that can be drawn on the data from surveys:

- ELFS and EES surveys,
- Employer Skills Survey,
- Employers' employability surveys.

From the perspective of evaluation of ET programme, the inspiration for indicators and criteria come from quality assurance in education and training. Here we can distinguish three valuable sources:

- EQAVET quality indicators
- CEDEFOP's indicators for VET and lifelong learning
- Employability audits

In following text we describe the nature and purpose of some indicators which we find suitable for measurement of employability in railway sector.





The purpose of designing and implementing of EQAVET (European Quality Assurance Reference Framework for Vocational Education and Training) indicators is to assure quality in VET at system level and the mutual trust among VET stakeholders. The EQAVET set of 10 indicators is a selection from the total possible range of VET relevant indicators (around 200) and it is based on the underlying theoretical and political understanding of what types of VET impacts are important [37]. EQUAVET indicators cover "get a job" dimension of employability, in terms of describing both inputs and processes and outputs and outcomes of ET programs.

CEDEFOP indicators were developed by European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training, an Agency of European Commission. CEDEFOP has selected a set of 36 indicators to quantify some key aspects of VET and lifelong learning [38] for achieving the objectives of the Europe 2020 strategy. In contrast to EQAVET indicators, this set of indicators measure not only the quality of initial VET but also continuous VET, which encompasses trainings and lifelong learning. In that manner, some of CEDEFOP indicators cover "stay in job" and "build a career" both in terms of enablers and results.

From the different perspective, ET2020 indicators measure some aspects of employability in order to monitor implementation of Education and Training Strategy (ET2020) of the EU. The ET 2020 states that an important objective of monitoring employability is meeting labour market "challenges" in "changing circumstances". Such challenges can be described in a long-term (demographical change, global competition, migration, technological change) or in a short or medium-term perspective (e.g. the current economic crisis) [41]. ET2020 indicators are collected from different sources (e.g. Eurostat, OECD Pisa, EU SILC, LFS, LMP, CVTS and national sources). There are 26 indicators that measure E&T at all stages. It should be noted that ET2020 pay special attention to transition education to work, which is one phase of "get a job" dimension from the labour market perspective (e.g. Long-term unemployment rate by age range, Frequency periods in NEET, Percentage of workers working involuntarily part-time, Number of months before finding a permanent job for relevant age cohort etc).

Another stream of surveys is hard-to-fill vacancies which is result of a mismatch between labour market and required skills for a particular job profile. Moreover, one of the major reasons of hard-to-fill vacancies appearing are skills-related (namely skill-shortage vacancies). From the employer perspective, hard-to-fill vacancies can be measured by using its incidence and density. Incidence is the proportion of employers reporting at least one hard-to-fill vacancy and density means the proportion of hard-to-fill vacancies and all vacancies [55]. Data on hard to fill vacancies are usually collected throughout Employer Skills Survey (ESS) also referred to as Employer Establishment Surveys. This relevant source describes skills challenges faced by





employers, both in terms of their existing workforce and when recruiting, and how they respond to these challenges through investment in training and workforce development.

The term skill mismatch is very broad and can relate to many forms of labour market characteristics, including vertical mismatch (usually measured in terms of overeducation, undereducation, overskilling and underskilling), skill gaps, skill shortages, field of study (horizontal) mismatch and skill obsolescence [49]. The term is generally restricted to mismatches impacting workers in employment, or firms currently employing or seeking to employ workers. The various concepts of skills mismatch are very different in terms of how they manifest themselves, their measurement, their determinants and how their consequences are felt. Some relate to mismatches experienced by employees, while others relate to employers and firm level difficulties. Some skill mismatch concepts are measured subjectively while others are derived from existing data. Measures of mismatch can be most usefully sub-divided into those that are measured at the level of the individual's circumstances and those that are measured in terms of firm-level aggregates. Individual concepts of mismatch relate to the degree to which workers in firms possess skill or education levels that are above, below or poorly connected to those required within their current job [7], [48], [8].

Skill mismatch can be seen as antithesis or opposite of "employability". Again, one could distinguish individual (qualitative) aspects and quantitative aspects referring to a larger group or sectoral phenomenon. But "skill mismatch" is in some cases easier to measure than employability because reduced mismatches indicate success and higher employability.

Having in mind above said for the initial set of STAFFERS indicators in railway it is selected two skill mismatch for education: (1) Overeducation – Percentage with education level above required or identified level of education in occupation (group or in selected occupation by STAFFERS project); Worker's level of education (qualification) exceeds the required level for the job (occupation) and (2) Undereducation – Percentage with education level below required or identified level of education in occupation group (selected occupation by STAFFERS project); Worker's education in occupation group (selected occupation by STAFFERS project); Worker's education (qualification) level is lower than the required level for the job (occupation).

4.2 Initial set of indicators

After the review of potential sources of indicators named in previous chapter 4.1, and according to the defined conceptual framework, the list of sources is reduced and presented in the Figure 9. The initial set of indicators is formed considering sources such as EQAVET, CEDEFOP, Skills mismatch indicators (ILO), ET2020 indicators and indicators on recruitment and skills within EES.





On the other hand, the initial set of items is constructed regarding the examples of employability audits and self-assessment (SA) within quality assessment (QA) and accreditation processes. Both initial sets were formed taking into account not only different dimensions, their process and outcome sides, but also success factors. In the following text we present initial sets of employability indicators, items for employability audit and attributes for mapping tool.



FIGURE 9 POSITIONING OF INDICATORS AND USED SOURCES OF INDICATORS IN THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

(Abbreviations: Qv – Qualitative, Qn-Quantitative, PI-Performance Indicator, WBL-Work Based Learning, FLP-Flexible Learning Pathways, NGL – Next Generation Learning, CDL – Carrier Development Learning, EDO's – Employment Development Opportunities, EES-Employer Establishment Surveys, SA-Self Assessment, QA-Quality Assurance)

4.2.1 Employability indicators

Employability is a complex concept, involving not only individual's characteristics, skills, attitudes and motivation, but also other external factors which lie beyond the scope of education and training policy, such as labour market regulations, demography, the structure of the economy and the overall economic situation [30]. Therefore, it is not easy to capture almost every aspect of the process and factors that influence success of some education or training program without using well designed instrument. In order to develop a systematic approach to monitoring the performance of ET systems and ET provision, a set of indicators is necessary.

An indicator is a quantitative or qualitative measure of how close we are to achieving a set of goals (e.g., policy outcome) [31]. They help to analyse and compare performance across job profiles, before and during implementation, and can be useful for determining policy priorities. According to the European Commission Toolbox for better regulation, monitoring of how successful the implementation of new or updated ET programmes is, indicators should follow several principles [31]:

• Collect only what is relevant so as to minimise administrative burden;





- Automate as much as possible with the use of IT tools to shorten data collection and processing time;
- Use common reporting standards to increase interoperability and ease sharing of data in the context of different policy areas;
- Make maximum use of existing data to save time and increase coherence of results; and
- Be transparent towards the stakeholders and opt for making data publicly available, preferably as "open data".

In WP 5, indicators – relevant for validation the new and updated education and training programmes developed in WP 4.4 and WP 4.5 with the specific goal to increase employability – were identified. During reviewing possible indicators in defined pool of sources, some indicators that appear among different sources were identified and filtered (e.g. Unemployment rate). On the other hand, some indicators had to be adopted to get a more detailed picture of successfulness of education program. One example is "Percentage of trainers and teachers with a prior professional experience", which is different from original EQAVET indicator "Percentage of trainers and teachers participating in further training".

The following table shows an initial set which contains 30 indicators. Every indicator is described by its name, definition, source, type, criteria, and dimension. It should be noted that some indicators cover more than one dimension of the employability concept.

No	Indicator name and its definition	Source	Type ⁸	Criteria	Dimension
1	Share of providers applying internal quality assurance systems defined by law/at own initiative (Percentage of VET providers showing evidence of applying the EQAVET principles (or use of different quality assurance principles, e.g. ISO 9001 or EFQM) within a defined quality assurance system, where the number of registered VET providers is 100%)	EQAVET	Qn	Enablers	Get a job, Stay in job
2	Share of teachers and trainers participating in further training (Percentage of teachers and trainers participating in accredited training programmes, from the total number of registered teachers and trainers)	EQAVET	Qn	Enablers	Get a job, Stay in job
3	Share of teachers and trainers having prior professional experience (Percentage of teachers and trainers participating in non-formal learning and prior experience, from the total number of registered teachers and trainers)	EQAVET adapted	Qn	Enablers	Get a job, Stay in job
4	Participation rate in VET programmes according to the type of programme and the individual criteria (Percentage of annual cohort completing lower secondary school/compulsory education participating	EQAVET	Qn	Enablers	Get a job, Stay in job

TABLE 2 INITIAL SET OF EMPLOYABILITY INDICATORS

 $^{^{8}}$ Qn – quantitative type of indicator, Ql – qualitative type of indicator.





	in IVET programmes at upper secondary level (which lead to a formal qualification))				
5	Number of successfully completed/abandoned VET programmes, according to the type of programme and the individual criteria (Percentage of those completing (i.e. attaining a formal qualification) IVET/CVET programme(s) (which lead to a formal qualification), compared to those entering IVET/CVET programme(s))	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job, Stay in job
6	Success rate of disadvantaged groups according to age and gender (Percentage of programme completers, from disadvantaged groups defined at European and national level, compared to the number of those entering)	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job
7	Destination of VET learners at designated point in time after completion of training, according to the type of programme and the individual criteria (Proportion of VET programme completers who are placed either in the labour market, further education or training (including university) or other destination within 12- 36 months after the end of programme)	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
8	Share of employed learners at designated point in time after completion of training, according to the type of programme and the individual criteria (Percentage of VET programme completers who are employed one year after the end of training)	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job
9	Information on occupation obtained by individuals after completion of training, according to type of training and individual criteria (Percentage of VET programme completers working in relevant occupations)	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job
10	Satisfaction rate of individuals and employers with acquired skills/competences (Percentage of employers of a given sector who are satisfied to find VET programme completers with relevant qualifications and competences required for the workplace)	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job, Stay in a job
11	Unemployment rate (The number of people unemployed as a percentage of the labour force)	EQAVET	Qn	Results	Get a job
12	Information on mechanisms set up to identify changing demands at different levels (Type of mechanisms used to update the VET offer to the future labour market needs)	EQAVET	QI	Enablers	Get a job
13	Schemes used to promote better access to VET (Type of schemes used to improve access to VET)	EQAVET	QI	Enablers	Get a job
14	Indicator of learning outcomes (Percentage of low achievement in reading, science and math)	ET2020 (OECD PISA)	Qn	Enablers	Get a job
15	Indicator on apprenticeship or traineeship (Percentage of learners having finished their studies and who have benefited from apprenticeship or traineeship)	ET2020 (EU SILC)	Qn	Results	Get a job
16	Indicator on youth NEET ⁹ (Percentage of the cohort population not in education, employment and training)	ET2020 (LFS)	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
17	Indicator on labour force participation of young people (Percentage of workers (20-24; 25-29) working involuntarily part time)	ET2020 (LFS)	Qn	Enablers	Stay in job, Build a career

 $^{^{\}rm 9}$ Not employed, education or training.





18	Indicators on education/job (mis)match (Percentage of youth people (by age cohort and ISCED level) employed at a relevant skill level (ISCO))	ET2020 (LFS)	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
19	Indicator on job (mis)match within a time interval after leaving education (Proportion of young people who have an occupation relevant to their educational level X years after leaving education)	ET2020 (LFS)	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
20	Indicator of incidence of hard-to-fill vacancies due to shortage of qualification, skills or experience (The proportion of employers (companies) reporting at least one hard-to-fill vacancy)	ESS 2019	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
21	Indicator of density of hard-to-fill vacancies due to shortage of qualification, skills or experience (Hard-to-fill vacancies as a proportion of all vacancies)	ESS 2019	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
22	Indicator on transition by type of contract (Transition between formally non-employment and employment and within employment by type of contract (permanent, fixed-term, ET(paid-apprenticeship), self- employment) from year n to year n+1)	ET2020 (EU SILC)	Qn	Results	Get a job, Stay in job, Build a career
23	Indicator on career opportunities service (Percentage of learners having finished their studies and who have benefited from career support services/organisations)	LFS	Qn	Results	Get a job, Build a career
24	Indicators on smooth transition from one job to another (Rate of inflow into employment 3 or 6 months after participation in a regular activation measure (LMP category 2 – training))	ET2020 (National sources)	Qn	Results	Get a job
25	Skill mismatch in education - In accordance with the specifics of the occupation (The rate between a person's current occupation and their field of education related to the highest-level education use for this occupation)	ETF	Qn	Enablers	Stay in job, Build a career
26	Skill mismatch in education - OVER-education (Percentage with education level above required or identified level of education in occupation (group or in selected occupation by STAFFERS project); Worker's level of education (qualification) exceeds the required level for the job)	LFS, ILO, ETF	Qn	Results	Get a job, Stay in job
27	Skill mismatch in education - UNDER-education (Percentage with education level below required or identified level of education in occupation group (selected occupation by STAFFERS project); Worker's education (qualification) level is lower than the required level for the job)	LFS, ILO, ETF	Qn	Results	Get a job, Stay in job
28	Average number of foreign languages learned in IVET (Average number of foreign languages learned in upper secondary vocational education)	CEDEFOP	Qn	Results	Get a job, Stay in job
29	Innovative enterprises with supportive training practices (Number of enterprises which have engaged in technological innovation and which have provided training to their staff to support such innovation. This number is expressed as a percentage of all companies engaged in technological innovation)	CEDEFOP	Qn	Enablers	Stay in job
30	Workers helped to improve their work by training (Number of trained workers reporting that 'training has helped them to improve the way they work' expressed as a percentage of all trained workers. Training refers to training sponsored by their employer (or by themselves in the case of the self-employed)	CEDEFOP	Qn	Results	Stay in job, Build a career





4.2.2 Employability audit and mapping tool

Within the enabler group of employability criteria, a useful source of measurable indicators are so called employability toolkits. They are mostly based on tailored audit or self-assessment schemes structured to reveal the uptake of employability within programmes. These are in fact specific questionnaires that search and uptake of employability elements within programme content and provision. They are referred as employability toolkit as they entail more than one constituting element. For example, 1) an audit tool used to gather first insights about presence of employability and 2) mapping tool that maps programmes against the key attributes that employers mostly value.

Employability audit tool focusses on the success factors i.e., elements or items that are seen with strong positive impact on employability, such is partnership between education providers and employees. The term 'audit' is used to highlight that all employability issues are appraised in terms of existing and future provision. The principal aim is to make the audit a developmental tool. In practical terms this means that the aim is not to comply with the overall score or use it to use it in a "league table" but decompose it to track fields of action and improvement. There are several main steps in devising employability audit tool [32]:

- Set audit items
- Set an appraisal scale (an example is given in **Table 3**).

Score	Descriptor	
0	The audit point has not been seriously considered at all.	
1	The audit point has been considered but reflection indicates it is poorly satisfied.	
2	The audit point has been considered but reflection indicates it is partially satisfied.	
3	The audit point has been considered and reflection indicates it is adequately satisfied.	
4	The audit point has been considered and reflection indicates it is optimally satisfied.	

TABLE 3 AN EXAMPLE OF APPRISAL SCALE FOR EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT [32]

- Decide on the audit team (programme designers/teachers, students, recent graduates, employee representatives)
- Perform an audit
- Analyse each of the audit points with a score of 2 or less in terms of: options to satisfy the audit item?; constraints that make any of these options unrealistic? when the changes can be made, consider prioritization in terms of short- and long-term plans, etc. Explore possibilities to transfer good practices from programmes with higher scores where interviews on "how it is done" can be serve as a guide for improvements.





The key part is defining the set of audit items that will be further apprised. Based on the existing examples of specific questionnaires that investigate the uptake of employability elements in ET programmes¹⁰ and insights from conceptualisation phase the initial set of aspects (dimensions) and associated items is prepared and presented in Table 4. It includes six dimensions that can be seen as indicators falling into enabler's criteria and get a job dimension in terms of preparation for employment and transition from education to work. The indicator that is a kind of specific here is Extra-curricular activities. Unlike the others that are strongly associated with employability, this indicator is still emerging. It seems necessary to highlight two aspects: First that there are some evidence to support including this indicator [45] and second that during discussions among partners this aspect was brought to the table using online gaming as an example. In line it was decided to put this indicator under scrutiny i.e. subject it to further evaluation.

TABLE 4 INITIAL SET OF INDICATORS AND ITEMS WITHIN EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT

1.1. Employability within curriculum

Associated items:	EXPLANATIONS:
Is the information provided about the programme clear, complete and facilitates decision-making by young people and their families?	(1) Communication skills:
Does the information provided about the programme contain data on employment and carrier opportunities?	Teamwork skills: Customer
Are promotion strategies and resources planned and budgeted at annual basis?	handling skills. Problem
Do students and recent graduates participate in programme promotion activities?	
Are transversal skills (1) explicitly taught?	solving skills; Learning skills;
Are transversal skills assessed?	Planning and organisation
Are digital skills explicitly taught (2)?	skills (List of transversal
Are digital skills separately assessed?	skills from WP2 Survey)
Is there a skills matrix which is completed by each learner/trainee (3)?	(2) Information,
Is ability to write clear, concise, correct English assessed regularly?	Communication, Problem
Do learnerss/trainees have a choice of modules or choice of work areas within a module so they can tailor the content of their course to their perceived needs/interests?	solving and Software skills
Are appropriate professional attitudes developed and discussed with learners/trainees?	as defined within FC Digital
1.2. Employment development opportunities	Competence Framework

ASS	oci	ωı	- 11	en	ns:
	_	_			

Has employment destination data been circulated to ET staff within the last 2 years?
Does ET staff know who actually employs their graduates?
Do current learners know who employs programme graduates?
Do recent graduates visit to talk about their current jobs?
Are learners made aware of where they can obtain information on graduate destinations in employment?
Are learners are regularly informed about opened employment opportunities (e.g. through annual job fairs or similar activities)?
Are learners explicitly thought to track and understand labour market news and updates (e.g. through trainings, workshops, etc.)?
1.3. Carrier development learning and support
Associated items:

Associated items:	inquisitiveness; Creativity;
Are graduate career possibilities and profiles available to learners?	Self-employment skills:
Do recent graduates visit to talk about their career paths?	Collaboration
Do more senior graduates visit to talk about their career paths?	Communication, Loadorship
Are learners explicitly taught career management skills (4)?	
Is a PDP (5) portfolio maintained throughout the course?	etc.
Is reflection on and review of achievements actively promoted within the course?	(5) Personal Development
Do learners/trainees get help with producing/improving a CV?	Plan. Considered in terms
Do learners/trainees get help with letters of application for employment?	of generic competences
ls help with module or work area choice available in each year?	and about ability to
Can learners easily switch to another module or work area?	maintain an up-to date
Is there an effective relationship between the programme (course) team and your Careers Service?	norsonal dovelopment plan
Are learners explicitly guided in the course to make contact with the Careers Service?	
Do you know the name of the Careers Adviser associated with your subject?	and takes action to make
Are your learners encouraged to have confidence and high aspirations?	

¹⁰ e.g. Guide to quality standards: a tool for assessing youth employability training and job placement processes [33], [35], [50]



(3) skills matrix maps required (desired) and available skills of learners. Usually it contains output of learner's assessment of skills against competences (4) Self-awareness; Labour market awareness: Career planning; Resilience; . Curiosity and



1.4. Partnership with employers

	(
Associated items:	(
Do employers review your curriculum and provided feedback on its content?	6
Are mechanisms to review and update curricula based on employer feedback applied regularly?	6
Do you know strengths and weaknesses of the graduates perceived by employers?	ì
Do learners have the opportunity to visit local employers?	1
Do learners have the opportunity to travel and visit foreign employers?	(
Do learners have the opportunity for virtual visits of foreign employers?	ľ
Do you have good communication with major employers of our learners?	Ş
Do employers visit your unit and give talks about employment opportunities?	Ş
Do employers attend learner final year project presentations?	S
Do you know what skills, knowledge and attitudes your major employers see as becoming more important in the next five years?	e
1.5. Options for work experience	

sure that personal development takes place (6) Simulation is about experiential learning experiences, whereby learners are engaged in analysis and decisionmaking in real work situations in an educational setting. In VET, examples of simulated work environments are: campus-based training sites (such as workshops with role playing) or technologyassisted simulation (such as train simulators)

Associated items:
Have you identified where work related learning activities take place in the course and are these made explicit to students?
Have opportunities to increase work related learning in the course been identified and taken?
Are apprenticeships and traineeships provided and encouraged as part of the programme?
Are placements (e.g. service learning) provided and encouraged as part of the programme (course)?
Is minimum length of work experience clearly identified within the programme?
Are sandwich placements provided and encouraged as part of the programme?
Are virtual placements possible and encouraged for students?
Are abroad placements possible and encouraged for students?
Does the programme include NGL resources as virtual and augmented reality?
Are realistic simulations used to give experience of real work situations (6)?
Do majority of students carry out course project work in real settings with employers?
Are work placements available in areas not involving programme specific discipline?
What proportion of students on your course have obtained work experience before graduation?
(0=don't know; 1=<5%; 2=5 to 20%; 3=20 to 50%; 4=>50%)
Are students on work placements supported by a process which encourages reflection and emphasises breadth of learning opportunities?
1.6. Extra-curricula activities

Is the contribution of extra-curricula activity to CV and skills development explained to students early in the course?
Are extra-curricula activities and responsibilities recorded by your students?
Are extra-curricula activities known to ET staff?
Are arrangements in place to encourage voluntary work by students?
Are interests and engagements outside programme field (e.g. sport, using modern technologies in everyday life) shared and encouraged throughout education?

The employability mapping tool helps to explore how and where the programme promotes the employability attributes. It can be used to identify where and how attributes are developed and assessed, and what is the reflection on current provision as well as what are the reflections on future provision. An example is given in Table 5.

Employability attributes (from	Existing pro	ovision			Future provision		
operators and/or suppliers PoV)	How important it is?	ls it developed within the programme?	ls it assessed within the programme?	The score for existing provision?	How important it is?	Short- term plans	Long- term plans

TABLE 5 EXAMPLE OF EMPLOYABILITY ATTRIBUTES MAPPING TOOL

The reflection on current provision requires an appraising scale to be set. An example is given in Table 6.





TABLE 6 AN EXAMPLE OF APPRISAL SCALE FOR ATTRIBUTES IN EMPLOYABILITY MAPPING TOOL [34]

Score Description

- 1 No attribute coverage
- 2 Attribute coverage implicit/assumed
- **3** Attribute coverage explicit (e.g. through learning outcomes/module information)
- 4 Attribute coverage is explicit and learners/trainees reflect on their development of the attribute
- 5 Attribute coverage is explicit, learners reflect on their attribute development, and reflections are turned into action plans

It is important to note that the importance of an attribute is not commonly included in the mapping tool. However, it should be considered in STAFFER due to the different perspectives (operators vs. suppliers) as well as job families and occupational profiles. In the final appraisal this will allow to combine importance and reflection on provision.

Similar as it was the case with the audit, for the mapping tool the key step is to identify relevant employability attributes. Again, similar as it was done with the audit the initial set of attributes is prepared based on the existing examples [34]. The initial set of employability attributes is presented in Table 7.

TABLE 7 INITIAL SET OF EMPLOYABILTY ATTRIBUTES FOR MAPPING TOOL

1. Specialist subject knowledge and expertise

Understanding how its knowledge can be applied in a broader context and how learning can be transferred to new contexts.

2. Critical thinking

Developing questioning, analytical, and problem-solving skills.

3. Creativity

Recognising opportunities, being happy to experiment, take risks and make mistakes, and then learning from experience.

4. Research skills and digital literacy

Being curious and resourceful, identifying and accessing appropriate sources, practising effective information management, and using digital, communication and media technologies with professionalism and confidence.

5. Learning and study skills

Developing learning skills and recognising the power of learning. Personal reflection, progression, planning, 'learning to learn', being alert to new experiences and opportunities in rail and broader fields.

6. Career management

Being able to understand and track labour market information (job offers and their description, recruitment process, HR, etc.) and reflect own career plans.

7. Systems thinking

Being able to understand the interrelationships between environmental, social, economic, political systems and technological aspects when trying to understand and respond to sustainability challenges in rail sector and overall development.

8. Openness

Being able to communicate and collaborate with people with other cultural perspectives and different views, and being willing to question and reflect on own perspectives. Willing and knowing how to connect with people abroad.

9. Responsibility





Knowing that individual actions have consequences and seeking to enhance integrity within academic, professional and civic life.

10. Leadership

Willing to act collaboratively in bringing about change towards more sustainable futures.

11. Self-organisation and management

Taking initiative, planning ahead, and demonstrating your leadership potential.

12. Teamwork and collaboration

Working professionally and confidently, being an active listener and assertive as appropriate in voicing opinions, seeking to resolve conflicts, and understanding the contribution you bring to a group.

13. Professional and ethical manner

Developing a strong sense of your own ability, working and communicating with integrity, and taking responsibility for your actions.

14. Negotiation and persuasion

Being able to put your ideas forward with confidence, to convince others, to take an active part in discussion, and to reach agreement.

15. Effective verbal and written communication

Conveying information clearly, for a variety of purposes and audiences, and enhancing your social capital and personal capacity through ethical, strategic, and relevant networking.

16. Be empowered

Making informed choices, developing resilience through navigating and dealing with uncertainty, acting in a forward-looking and flexible manner.

4.3 Evaluation of indicators

4.3.1 Methodology

In order to select a set of indicators that will measure the employability of existing educational programmes for a defined set of occupations, a method is needed that will efficiently capture the views of the partners within the STAFFER consortium. This method should play the role of a communication tool that will reach a consensus of the partners on the choice of a set of indicators.

The evaluation of indicators was divided in two phases. In the first phase, partners were asked to review the initial set of indicators, items and attributes, with a possibility to add new indicators and to suggest redefinition of current ones. After collecting suggestions of participants and updating the initial set with a new and changed indicators, participants were asked to give evaluation of proposed indicator in the second phase.

For evaluation of indicators in the second phase, there are few well-known and widely used methods such as SMART (stands for Specific, Measurable, Attainable and action oriented, Relevant and Time-bound), SPICED (stands for Subjective, Participatory, Interpreted,





Communicable, Empowering and Disaggregated), RACER (stands for Relevant, Accepted, Credible, Easy and Robust) etc. The SMART method is suitable for the selection of quantitative indicators while the SPICED method is used for the selection of qualitative indicators [43]. Unlike the previous two, the RACER method involves the evaluation of both quantitative and qualitative indicators. This makes it easier for STAFFER partners to select these two groups of indicators by knowing and using one method correctly, making this method more suitable for a larger number of decision makers within the consortium. The assessment method (RACER) was presented on the meeting held in July 16th 2021 and approved by WP5 partners.

Originally, the RACER method consists of two rounds of indicator evaluation [11]. In the first step, each indicator is evaluated from the angle of the five basic criteria of the RACER method (Relevant, Accepted, Credible, Easy, Robust). Since the basic criteria are overly broad, a set of sub-criteria is determined for each basic criterion in order to accurately assess each indicator (it is common to define 2-5 sub-criteria for each criterion). For each sub-criterion, the question to which decision makers should give one of three possible answers should be precisely defined: fully satisfies the sub-criterion, partially satisfies the sub-criterion or does not satisfy the subcriterion. Instead of answering, decision makers often assign a certain colour (green in the first case, yellow in the second and red in the third) for each indicator to a particular sub-criterion question. In this way, the first step is represented by a matrix containing the indicators as a vertical dimension and the sub-criteria as a horizontal dimension. The fields inside the matrix contain one of three colours, so it is easy to visually determine which indicators more or less meet the requirements of the sub-criteria. The second step is evaluation of indicators related to their application to the specific problem for which they are determined.

In the described form, the RACER method was used for evaluation and selection of indicators in general areas, such as sustainability and resources consumption [2]., where a large number of indicators are available and for which databases are available. In contrast to these topics, for the evaluation of educational programs for a defined set of occupations within the STAFFER project, numerous data are not available to that extent or are not easily measurable. Therefore, it was necessary to adjust the application of the RACER method to determine the set of indicators in two steps. In the first step, the indicators had to be selected according to the criteria **R**elevant and **A**cceptable (which would form the **Conceptual filter** of the evaluation of indicators) and in the second step the remaining indicators would be selected according to the criteria **E**asy and **R**obust (which would form the **Operational filter** of the evaluation of indicators)¹¹.

¹¹ In description of RACER criteria, there is an overlap between them. We recognise those overlapping and therefore we distinguish four criteria. On the other hand, we made balance in numbers of criteria in conceptual





WP5.1 partners were asked to assess proposed indicators regarding four criteria with the following meaning:

- Relevant: Indicator is in line with STAFFER WP5 objectives ("to validate the new and/or updated mobility and training paths, programs and curricula developed in Tasks 4.4 and 4.5 with the specific goal to increase employability and career opportunities of young professionals");
- Acceptable: Indicator is easy to understand and accepted by employees, employers and E&T providers¹²;
- Easy: Indicator is easy to collect or already used/collected in previous WPs (with a suggestion to participants to indicate if this is the case); and
- Robust: Indicator is sensitive enough to monitor changes (current and future changes) but not deeply affected by short-term changes.

However, the assessment of items and attributes had to be done by using first three criteria (without using Robust criterion). Participants had to assess suggested indicators regarding all four criteria. For every criterion they could express one of four answers:

- 4 Yes, an indicator completely fulfils a criterion in its current form (marked with green color);
- 3 An indicator partially fulfils a criterion and it needs to be adjusted (yellow);
- 2 No, an indicator does not fulfil a criterion (red); or
- 1 Do not know (gray).

Since **R**elevant criterion is a key criterion in this evaluation, for this criterion possible answers are 4, 3 or 2 (do not know for this criterion was excluded). If some indicator had been assessed as not relevant, the participant was not obliged to proceed with evaluation on that particular indicator for other three criteria. In case that an evaluator had deemed that an indicator should be accepted with adjustment (by choosing answer 3), he should add a proposal for a new formulation of the indicator.

After collecting completed assessments by participants, two rounds of evaluation were implemented. In the first one, the indicators were removed if they did not satisfy conceptual criteria (Relevant and Acceptable criterion). The indicator/item/attribute is removed from the set if:

¹² The criterion has been rephrased according to a suggestion of respondents.



and operational filter. In that way we adapted RACER method which was presented on meeting in July 16th 2021 and approved by WP5 participants.



- 1. At least one representative from two groups of the stakeholders' group (operators, suppliers, ET providers) did not approve it; or
- 2. The majority of the representatives from a stakeholder group did not approve it.

In the second round of evaluation, we have identified indicators/items/attributes that need further adjustments (e.g., in terms of clarifying, merging or splitting). Responds received from partners were processed by using specially designed tool in excel, which is shown in following figure that are given in Annex 2 in larger format as well.



FIGURE 10 SNAPSHOT OF EXCEL TOOL FOR PROCESSING RESULTS OF RACER METHOD FOR INDICATORS

4.3.2 Results

Results from the phase 1

During the first phase of the evaluation WP5 partners were asked to add new indicators, items and/or attributes to the Employability audit and mapping tool. Seven partners participated in this phase (four operators, two education/training provider and one supplier representatives) have added to the initial set four indicators, five items to the audit and six attributes to the mapping tool, in total.

TABLE 8 SET OF EMPLOYABILITY INDIACTORS NEWLY ADDED AFTER THE PHASE 1

Nev	New indicators				
31.	Assessment of applicant's attractiveness (salary, run for entry,) target function				
32.	Attractiveness of the framework conditions of the training (serving the most modern job profiles, training part- time, in stages,)				





33.	Assessment of qualification occupied $\mathbf{x}\%$ of the future focus skills (transversal competencies) for the corresponding job profile
34.	Assessment of continuity of a qualification for development prospects

TABLE 9 SET OF ITEMS FOR EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT AND ATTRIBUTES FOR MAPPING TOOL NEWLY ADDED AFTER THE FIRST PHASE

New items	New attributes
 Employability within curriculum Are there any admission tests or assessment that can be useful to be shared with employers in case of placement? Employment development opportunities Is there any data base/website/intranet/social channel available for learners? Is there any periodical exchange among old graduates and learners? Career development learning and support Are learners made aware of D&I policies for career paths in employers? Extra-curricular activities Is there room for extra curricula activities? 	 Adaptability (the ability quickly to operate under previously unknown conditions or in previously unfamiliar roles) Fundamentals of economics and law Fundamentals of Natural Sciences Basic knowledge about the environment and climate Customer Development (put the client at the centre of strategy, its needs and new expectations in order to provide an outstanding service) Continuous improvement (Aiming at constantly improving processes. Asks others to give new ideas share and spread them. Searching for optimization)

There were also some very valuable comments received within this phase. Some of the indicators, items and attributes where rephrased in order to make them clearer. Also, the criterion 'Acceptable' was rephrased to make clear that the partners are asked to express their opinion on whether the item or the attribute is easy to understand by both ET providers and 'ET customers'. Besides proposals to enrich the initial set of items, the suggestion from rail suppliers' point of view was to cover (and also differentiate) between indicators/items/attributes that address ET environment and company environment. From educational providers the suggestion was to merge dimensions within the audit (EDO's and Partnership with employers) but also to merge some items within the dimensions.

Results from the phase 2 - RACER evaluation

In the second phase, partners were asked to evaluate set of indicators, items and attributes proposed after the first phase. During the second phase eight partners participated in RACER evaluation (three operators, four education/training and one supplier representative). In Table 10 is given a general assessment outcome. In the following text we present the results of evaluation of every module.

Employability indicators: From 34 proposed indicators, 13 had got a positive opinion by most of the participants. Only one indicator is fully accepted by all participants and the 12 were conditionally accepted with requests for revision in terms of clarification, doubts of their relevance for training providers or challenges to monitor the indicators on the individual basis.





TABLE 10 GENERAL ASSESSMENT OUTCOME

	Indicators	ltems in Employability Audit	Attributes in Mapping Tool
Initial set	30	61 in 6 dimensions	16
After phase 1	34	67 in 6 dimensions	22
After phase 2 (RACER)	13 (12 to be fully revised)	51 in 5 dimensions (28 to be fully revised)	17 (9 to be fully revised)

Most of rejected indicators did not pass the Relevance criterion, while the rest were rejected because they did not fulfil Relevant and Acceptable criterion combined (7 of 21 rejected indicators). If we consider indicator sources, among accepted indicators, 9 of 13 are EQAVET indicators (Figure 11). Both ESS 2019 indicators that measure incidence and density of hard-to-fill vacancies also received positive opinion by most participants (86% and 90% respectively). The rest of chosen indicators are "30. Workers helped to improve their work by training" (CEDEFOP indicator) and an indicator that DB added "Attractiveness of the framework conditions of the training (serving the most modern job profiles, training part-time, in stages, ...)".

It is interesting to see that none of the ET2020 indicators (8 of 34) got a positive appraisal by the participants with explanation that most of them are useful but too general or not relevant at all for some participants. The reason is that ET2020 indicators are indicators related to external employability and company practitioners are more interested in internal employability. Skill mismatch indicators (ETF indicators) also did not receive positive opinion. Some explanation said that they might be judgemental, and with a suggestion to fuse UNDER- and OVER-education in to a single, more neutral, indicator "education gap". Still, a similar indicator "Skill mismatch in education - In accordance with the specifics of the occupation" did not get a positive appraisal too. Regarding criteria, the most chosen criteria are "Results" but the ratio between Enablers and Results indicators after 1st and 2nd phase remains almost same (Figure 12).







FIGURE 11 STRUCTURE OF INDICATORS SOURCES AFTER SECOND PHASE OF EVALUATION



FIGURE 12 STRUCTURE OF INDICATORS CRITERIA AFTHER 1ST AND 2ND PHASE OF EVALUATION

Employability audit: Six dimensions with 67 items in total were subjected to RACER evaluation. It is important to remind that unlike the indicators, for the audit and mapping tool only one criterion was included within operational filter (**E**asy to collect within the timeframe of WP5), since the audit is not just a set of criteria and indicator but also an instrument for data collection.

In total, ten items in five dimensions and one dimension (which contains 6 items) did not pass the conceptual filter (criteria \mathbf{R} and \mathbf{A}) and were removed from the set. Moreover, sixth dimension (Extra curricula activities) is excluded, as the whole dimension is considered to be not relevant. At the end the employability audit consists of five dimensions and 51 items in total (Table 11). It can be noticed that the rate of rejected items is much smaller than for employability indicators.





TABLE 11 SET OF ITEMS WHICH AS BEEN FULLY OR CONDITIONALY ACCEPTED FROM PARTICIPANS WITH A REQUEST FOR THEIR REVISION

Dimension Number		Number of items	
1	Employability within curriculum	11	
2	Employment Development Opportunities - EDO's	7	
3	Career development learning and support	13	
4	Partnership with employers	10	
5	Options for work experience	10	
Toto	Total: 5 dimensions (indicators)		

Mapping tool: After second phase (receiving evaluation of proposed attributes) five attributes were removed. In total nine attributes have to be rephrased according to job profiles i.e. point of view of suppliers and operators collected in 5.2. and 5.3. For those attributes, participants sent useful suggestions. For example, attribute "**Critical thinking**" should be explained as "being able to think in the system and to think from different point of views" instead of "developing questioning, analytical, and problem-solving skill". All received suggestions and comments are grouped and addressed for every attribute and can be found in supplementary excel file.

4.4 Consolidated set of indicators

In this chapter we present a consolidated set of indicators, items for employability audit and attributes for employability mapping tool. In Table 12 accepted indicators are given considering the appraisals which have been received from participants in WP 5.1. survey (survey is given in annex 1).

No.	Name of indicator	Source	Туре	Criteria
30	Workers helped to improve their work by training	CEDEFOP	Quantitative	Results
5	Number of successfully completed/abandoned VET programmes, according to the type of programme and any individual criteria	EQAVET	Quantitative	Results
8	Share of employed learners at designated point in time after completion of training, according to the type of programme and any individual criteria	EQAVET	Quantitative	Results
20	Indicator of incidence of hard-to-fill vacancies (due to shortage of qualification, skills or experience)	ESS 2019	Quantitative	Results
21	Indicator of density of hard-to-fill vacancies (due to shortage of qualification, skills or experience)	ESS 2019	Quantitative	Results
7	Destination of VET learners at designated point in time after completion of training, according to the type of programme and any individual criteria	EQAVET	Quantitative	Results
9	Information on occupation obtained by individuals after completion of training, according to type of training and any individual criteria	EQAVET	Quantitative	Results

TABLE 12 SET OF CONSOLIDATED SET OF EMPLOYABILITY INDICATORS





12	Information on mechanisms set up to identify changing demands at different levels	EQAVET	Qualitative	Enablers
6	Success rate of disadvantaged groups according to age and gender	EQAVET	Quantitative	Results
32	Attractiveness of the framework conditions of the training (serving the most modern job profiles, training part-time, in stages,)	DB added	Qualitative	Enablers
2	Share of teachers and trainers participating in further training	EQAVET	Quantitative	Enablers
10	Satisfaction rate of individuals and employers with acquired skills/competences	EQAVET	Quantitative	Results
13	Schemes used to promote better access to VET	EQAVET	Qualitative	Enablers
Leger	nd: Fully accepted Need adjustment (rephrasing)			

From the table it can be noticed that all participants agree that the most important indicator is value of training for current workers (indicator marked with green). This can be explained as rising needs for workers adaptability in terms of changing demand for their skills and knowledge in forthcoming digitalisation of the railway sector. In this indicator, operators and suppliers have found the common ground, following the education and training providers. Of course, except first indicator in the set, all indicators will be the subject of revision and tailored according to the participant needs and specific jobs in rail sector (indicators marked with orange).

Majority of chosen indicators falls in the 'results' (9 are in 'results' indicators and 4 'enablers indicators). Some of them are qualitative as such as "32. Attractiveness of the framework conditions of the training" or "9. Information of mechanisms set up to identify changing demands of different levels". More detail of quality of education and training process and its enables are subject of employability audit. Set of items in audit are listed in Table 13 according to received percentage of positive appraisals.

No.	Name of dimension (indicator)/item					
1.1. E	1.1. Employability within curriculum					
6	Are transversal skills assessed?					
12	Are appropriate professional attitudes developed and discussed with learners/trainees?					
3	Are promotion strategies and resources planned and budgeted at annual basis?					
1	Is the information provided about the programme clear, complete and does it facilitate decision-making by young people and their families?					
5	Are transversal skills explicitly taught?					
11	Do students/trainees have a choice of modules or choice of work areas within a module so they can tailor the content of their course to their perceived needs/interests?					
2	Does the information provided about the programme contain data on employment and career opportunities?					
7	Are digital skills explicitly taught?					
8	Are digital skills separately assessed?					
13	Are there any admission tests or assessment that can be useful to be shared with employers in case of placement?					
10	Is ability to write clear, concise, and correct English assessed regularly?					
1.2. E	1.2. Employment development opportunities					
3	Do current learners know who employs programme graduates?					
5	Are learners made aware of where they can obtain information on graduate destinations in employment?					
6	Are learners are regularly informed about opened employment opportunities (e.g. through annual job fairs or similar activities)?					
1	Has employment destination data been circulated to ET staff within the last 2 years?					

TABLE 13 SET OF CONSOLIDATED SET OF THE ITEMS FOR EMPLOYABILITY AUDIT





8	Is there any data base/website/intranet/social channel available for learners?
2	Does ET staff know who actually employs their graduates?
7	Are learners explicitly taught to track and understand labour market news and updates (e.g. through trainings,
	workshops, etc.)?
1.3. C	areer development learning and support
1	Are graduate career possibilities and profiles available to learners?
12	Are learners explicitly guided in the course to make contact with the Careers Service?
14	Are your learners encouraged to have confidence and high aspirations?
15	Are learners made aware of D&I policies for career paths in employers?
11	Is there an effective relationship between the programme (course) team and your Careers Service?
4	Are learners explicitly taught career management skills?
6	Is reflection on and review of achievements actively promoted within the course?
9	Is help with module or work area choice available in each year?
10	Can learners easily switch to another module or work area?
2	Do recent graduates visit to talk about their career paths?
3	Do more senior graduates visit to talk about their career paths?
7	Do learners/trainees get help with producing/improving a CV?
8	Do learners/trainees get help with letters of application for employment?
1.4. P	artnership with employers
4	Do learners have the opportunity to visit local employers?
5	Do learners have the opportunity to travel and visit foreign employers?
6	Do learners have the opportunity for virtual visits of foreign employers?
1	Do employers review your curriculum and provided feedback on its content?
3	Do you know strengths and weaknesses of the graduates perceived by employers?
2	Are mechanisms to review and update curricula based on employer feedback applied regularly?
7	Do you have good communication with major employers of our learners?
8	Do employers visit your unit and give talks about employment opportunities?
9	Do employers attend learner final year project presentations?
10	Do you know what skills, knowledge and attitudes your major employers see as becoming more important in the next five years?
1.5. C	Options for work experience
3	Are apprenticeships and traineeships provided and encouraged as part of the programme?
9	Does the programme include NGL resources as virtual and augmented reality?
11	What proportion of learners on your course carry out course project work in real settings with employers? (0=don't know; 1=<5%; 2=5 to 20%; 3=20 to 50%; 4=>50%)
10	Are realistic simulations used to give experience of real work situations?
1	Have you identified where work-related learning activities take place in the course and are these made explicit to learners?
2	Have opportunities to increase work related learning in the course been identified and taken?
6	Are sandwich placements provided and encouraged as part of the programme?
8	Are abroad placements possible and encouraged for students?
4	Are placements (e.g. service learning) provided and encouraged as part of the programme (course)?
7	Are virtual placements possible and encouraged for students?
Leger	nd: Fully accepted Need adjustment (rephrasing)

The participants reached consensus for most items in dimensions "1.2. Employment development opportunities" (5 out of 7 accepted items), and "1.5. Options for work experience" (6 out of 10 accepted items). The number of received suggestions for revision are less than for employability indicators. Besides changing, dividing or merging some items, some suggestions of participants also suggest that the order of the items in a dimension should be changed in Task 5.2 and task 5.3. For a employability mapping tool, a consolidated set of attributes is shown in Table 14.





TABLE 14 SET OF CONSOLIDATED SET OF THE ATTRIBUTES FOR EMPLOYABILITY MAPPING TOOL

No.	Name of attribute				
12	Team-work and Collaboration (Working professionally and confidently, being an active listener and assertive as appropriate in voicing opinions, seeking to resolve conflicts, and understanding the contribution you bring to a group)				
5	Learning and study skills (Developing learning skills and recognising the power of learning. Personal reflection, progression, planning, 'learning to learn', being alert to new experiences and opportunities in rail and broader fields)				
8	Openness (Being able to communicate and collaborate with people with other cultural perspectives and different views, and being willing to question and reflect on own perspectives. Willing and knowing how to connect with people abroad)				
9	Responsibility (Knowing that individual actions have consequences and seeking to enhance integrity within academic, professional and civic life)				
13	Professional and ethical manner (Developing a strong sense of your own ability, working and communicating with integrity, and taking responsibility for your actions)				
4	Research skills and digital literacy (Being curious and resourceful, identifying and accessing appropriate sources, practising effective information management, and using digital, communication and media technologies with professionalism and confidence)				
22	Continuous improvement (Aiming at constantly improving processes. Ask others to give new ideas share and spread them. Searching for optimization)				
1	Specialist subject knowledge and expertise (Understanding how its knowledge can be applied in a broader context and how learning can be transferred to new contexts)				
2	Critical thinking (being able to think in the system and to think from different point of views)				
17	Adaptability (the ability to adapt in terms of resilience – quickly to operate under previously unknown conditions or in previously unfamiliar roles)				
7	Systems thinking (Being able to understand the interrelationships between environmental, social, economic, political systems and technological aspects when trying to understand and respond to sustainability challenges in rail sector and overall development – more appropriate for the managerial positions)				
3	Out-of-the-box thinking (Recognising opportunities, being happy to experiment, take risks and make mistakes, and then learning from experience)				
15	Effective verbal and written communication (Conveying information clearly, for a variety of purposes and audiences, and enhancing your social capital and personal capacity through ethical, strategic, and relevant networking)				
6	Career management (Being able to understand and track labour market information (job offers and their description, recruitment process, HR, etc.) and reflect own career plans)				
18	Fundamentals of economics and law (employees, particularly engineers skilled with entrepreneurial mindset)				
10	Leadership (Willing to act collaboratively, influence and maximize the efforts of others towards a more sustainable future)				
21	Customer Development (put the client at the centre of strategy, its needs and new expectations in order to provide an outstanding service)				
Legen	d: Fully accepted Need adjustment (rephrasing) Additional descriptions proposed by partners				

Some of the attributes are adjusted according to participants suggestions. For example, for attribute "Fundamentals of economics and law" explanations were added "employees, particularly engineers skilled with entrepreneurial mindset". All suggested changes are marked with red letters in Table 14.





5 CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

This report should be considered the first important result of STAFFER WP5 which should define a consolidated set of criteria and indicators of employability and career opportunities, i.e. to develop a methodological umbrella for assessing employability and career opportunities in E&T programs before adjusting the curriculum.

A key challenge of the WP5.1 has been to deal with a very abstract employability term that has a broad interpretation in practice. From this reason the concept of employability for our project is very complex to define. In other word the concept needed to be built in a way that combines both a theoretical perspective but at the same time to make it practical relevant for the STAFFER stakeholders, HR and training experts in the railway companies and suppliers. So, we highlighted the overall relevance and understanding of the employability concept by giving the general view of it.

To come up with consolidated set of indicators it was necessary to introduce a two-phases procedure. First were setting the initial set of indicators and second was evaluation of the indicators (filtering initial set) according to the relevant criteria. The initial set was consisting of 30 indicators. Seven partners participated in this phase (four operators, two education/training provider and one supplier representative) have added to the initial set four indicators in total. At the end was 34 indicators.

In the second step, STAFFERS' partners had the opportunity to evaluate the initial set using the RACER method. From 34 proposed indicators, 13 had got a positive opinion by most of the participants. Only one indicator is fully accepted by all participants and the 12 were conditionally accepted with requests for revision in terms of clarification, doubts of their relevance for training providers or challenges to monitor the indicators on the individual basis. All participants agree that the most important indicator is value of training for current workers. This can be explained as rising needs for workers adaptability in terms of changing demand for their skills and knowledge in forthcoming digitalisation of the railway sector.

However, this report has also shown that from the perspective of railway operators and infrastructure managers as well as railway suppliers, the consolidated set of indicators, items and attributes will serve as methodological umbrella for the following tasks in WP5 i.e. tasks 5.2. and 5.3. that collect points of view from rail operators (5.2.) and rail suppliers (5.3). These





tasks will start with the fine tuning of the consolidated set of indicators in order to move towards devising instruments for collecting data.

At last, but not least this report is not solely to offer a set of criteria and measurable indicators of employability and career opportunities but to, in broader sense, communicate a gathered body of knowledge on employability and issues of measurement between WP5 and other packages and to pave the way towards common understanding on employability both from conceptual and operational point of view.







6 REFERENCES

- Arévalo, L. E. B., & Contreras, A. X. S. (2020). Approach to the concept of employability and its indicators. *Ingeniería Solidaria*, 16(3), 1-21. Retrieved from: <u>https://revistas.ucc.edu.co/index.php/in/article/view/3810</u>
- 2. <u>BIO Intelligence Service, Institute for Social Ecology and Sustainable Europe Research Institute</u> (2012) Assessment of resource efficiency indicators and targets. Final report prepared for the <u>European Commission, DG Environment.</u>
- Bridgstock, R., Grant-Iramu, M., Bilsland, C., Tofa, M., Lloyd, K., & Jackson, D. (2019). Going beyond 'Getting a Job': Graduates' Narratives and Lived Experiences of Employability and Their Career Development. In Higgs, Joy, Letts, Will, & Crisp, Geoffrey (Eds.) Education for Employability (Volume 2): Learning for Future Possibilities. Brill, Leiden, The Netherlands, pp. 89-104. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004418707_008</u>
- Cordery, J., Sevastos, P., Mueller, W., & Parker, S. (1993). Correlates of employee attitudes toward functional flexibility. *Human relations*, 46(6), 705-723. Retrieved from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679304600602</u>
- Council of the European Union, 1997, see Palpant, C. (2006). The European Employment Strategy: An Instrument of Convergence for the New Member States?. Notre Europe. Retrieved from: <u>https://institutdelors.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/policypaper18-en.pdf</u>
- Cedefop (2008). Terminology of European education and training policy A selection of 100 key terms. Luxembourg: Publications office. Available at: <u>http://www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/files/4064_en.pdf</u>
- 7. Cedefop (2010). The skill matching challenge: analysing skill mismatch and policy implications. Luxembourg: Publications Office. DOI: 10.2801/23851
- Cedefop (2015a). Skills, Qualifications and Jobs in the EU: The Making of a Perfect Match?: Evidence from Cedefop's European Skills and Jobs Survey, Cedefop Reference Series 3072. DOI: 10.2801/606129
- De Grip, A., Van Loo, J., & Sanders, J. (1999). Employability in action: An industry employability index. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.skope.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wpcontent/uploads/2014/04/SKOPEWP05.pdf</u>
- De Grip, A., Van Loo, J., & Sanders, J. (2004). The industry employability index: Taking account of supply and demand characteristics. *Int'l Lab. Rev.*, 143, 211. Retrieved from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1564-913X.2004.tb00269.x</u>
- European Commission 2005. "Impact assessment guidelines. SEC2005 (791)." EC, Brussels. Available at: <u>https://www.legislationline.org/download/id/2238/file/</u> EU_ImpactAssessmentGuidelines_2005am2006.pdf
- 12. Forrier, A., & Sels, L. (2003). The concept employability: A complex mosaic. International journal of human resources development and management, 3(2), 102-124. Retrieved from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHRDM.2003.002414</u>
- Forrier, A., Verbruggen, M., & De Cuyper, N. (2015). Integrating different notions of employability in a dynamic chain: The relationship between job transitions, movement capital and perceived employability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 89, 56-64. Retrieved from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2015.04.007</u>
- 14. Harvey, L. (2001). Defining and measuring employability. Quality in higher education, 7(2), 97-109. DOI: <u>10.1080/13538320120059990</u>. Full text available at: <u>https://www.qualityresearchinternational.com/Harvey%20papers/Harvey%202001%20Defining%20and%20employability%20QHE7(2).pdf</u>





15. Harvey, L. (1999), Employability Audit Toolkit (Birmingham, Centre for Research into Quality). Available at

https://qualityresearchinternational.com/esecttools/relatedpubs/Employability5thQHE.doc

- Harvey, L. (2001). Defining and measuring employability. Quality in higher education, 7(2), 97-109. Available at Hillage, J., & Pollard, E. (1998). Employability: developing a framework for policy analysis. Department forEducation and Employment, vol. 107, pp. 83-85. Retrieved from http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/10058.
- Harvey, L., Locke, W., & Morey, A. (2002). Enhancing Employability, Recognising Diversity: Making Links Between Higher Education and the World of Work: Main Report. Universities UK. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.qualityresearchinternational.com/esecttools/relatedpubs/enhancingemployabilityrecdiversity.pdf</u>.
- Hillage, J., & Pollard, E. (1998). Employability: developing a framework for policy analysis. Department for Education and Employment, vol. 107, pp. 83-85. Retrieved from http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/10058.

19. https://doi.org/10.1080/13538320120059990

- 20. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/491353
- 21. https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/50721/
- 22. https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/topic/sustainable-work
- 23. <u>https://docplayer.net/195825382-Employability-in-the-railway-sector-in-the-light-of-digitalisation-and-automation-eda-rail.html</u> and <u>https://www.etf-europe.org/activity/employability-in-the-railway-sector-in-the-light-of-digitalisation-and-automation/</u>
- 24. <u>https://www.etf-europe.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Demographic-change-rail-EN.pdf</u>
- 25. <u>http://www.cer.be/promoting-employment-and-attractive-working-conditions-european-rail-sector</u>
- 26. https://www.etf-europe.org/rail-social-partners-launch-6th-annual-report-on-women-in-rail/
- 27. <u>https://cer.be/media/press-releases/women-rail-eu-level-negotiations-between-social-partners-round-3</u> and <u>https://cer.be/media/press-releases/cer-general-assembly-unanimously-adopts-women-rail-agreement</u>
- 28. https://shift2rail.org/publications/human-capital-report-series/
- 29. https://www.efqm.org/efqm-model/
- 30. https://www.consilium.europa.eu//uedocs/cms_data/docs/pressdata/en/educ/130142.pdf
- 31. https://ec.europa.eu/info/files/better-regulation-toolbox-41 en
- 32. <u>https://www.plymouth.ac.uk/about-us/teaching-and-learning/employability-in-the-curriculum-and-beyond/auditing-and-action-planning-employability-in-programmes</u>
- 33. <u>https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/document/guide-to-quality-standards-a-tool-for-assessing-youth-employability-training-and-job-placement-processes.pdf</u> -Guide to quality standards: a tool for assessing youth employability training and job placement processes.
- 34. <u>https://www.plymouth.ac.uk/uploads/production/document/path/7/7806/Plymouth_Compasss_Mapping_Tool.docx</u> Plymouth_Compass_Mapping_Tool.
- 35. <u>https://documents.advance-he.ac.uk/download/file/1308</u> -Mapping employability toolkit.
- 36. <u>www.bequal.info</u> -BEQUAL tool.
- 37. <u>https://skillman.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/EQAVET_Indicators_Toolkit_final.pdf</u>
- 38. https://www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/data-insights/indicator-overviews





- 39. <u>https://www.etf-europe.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Employability_Joint-Recommendations-EN.pdf</u>
- 40. ILO Recommendation on human resources development: Education, training and lifelong learning (No. 195), (2004) Available at <u>https://www.oitcinterfor.org/sites/default/files/file_evento/recom195_en.pdf</u>
- 41. Joint Research Centre, Institute for the Protection and Security of the Citizen, Garrouste, C., Arjona Perez, E., Kozovska, K., Towards a benchmark on the contribution of education and training to employability: a discussion note, Publications Office, 2010, <u>https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2788/81837</u>
- 42. Kuo, C. G., Chang, C. C., & Huang, C. C. (2014). Constructing employability indicators for enhancing the effectiveness of engineering education for the solar industry. *International Journal of Photoenergy*, 2014.
- 43. <u>Lennie, J., Tacchi, J., Koirala, B., Wilmore, M., Skuse, A. (2011) Equal Access Participatory</u> <u>Monitoring and Evaluation toolkit, Module 2: Setting objectives and indicators, Assessing</u> <u>Communication for Social Change (AC4SC) project.</u>
- 44. McQuaid, R. W., & Lindsay, C. (2005). The concept of employability. Urban studies, 42(2), 197-219. Available at
- 45. Milner, S., Cousins, W., & McGowan, I. (2016). Does All Work and No Play Make a Dull Graduate? Perceptions of Extra-curricular Activities and Employability. Journal of Perspectives in Applied Academic Practice, 4(1), 13-18. Available at: <u>https://pure.ulster.ac.uk/ws/files/11519513/JPAAP.pdf</u>
- 46. Outin, Jean-Luc. 1990. "Trajectoires professionelles et mobilité de la main-d'oeuvre: La construction sociale de l'employabilité", in Sociologie du Travail (Montrouge), Vol. 32, No. 4, pp. 469-489.
- 47. Pegg, A, Waldock, J, Hendy-Isaac, S, et al. (2012) Pedagogy for Employability. York: Higher Education Academ, as cited in: Kornelakis, A., & Petrakaki, D. (2020). Embedding employability skills in UK higher education: Between digitalization and marketization. Industry and Higher Education, 34(5), 290-297. Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0950422220902978.</u>
- Quintini, G. (2011). "Over-Qualified or Under-Skilled: A Review of Existing Literature", OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Paper 121. OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/5kg58j9d7b6d-en</u>.
- Seamus McGuinness, Konstantinos Pouliakas, Paul Redmond. How Useful is the Concept of Skills Mismatch?, ILO, Skills and Employability Branch Employment Policy Department International Labour Office, 2017, Geneva, p.47 Available at: https://labordoc.ilo.org/discovery/delivery/411LO_INST:411LO_V1/1246449960002676.
- 50. <u>https://www.bequalapp.eu/en/</u> Tools from Benchmarking for Quality Assurance in Apprenticeships and Work-Based Learning. BEQUAL.app- project
- 51. Thijssen, J. G., Van der Heijden, B. I., & Rocco, T. S. (2008). Toward the employability—link model: current employment transition to future employment perspectives. *Human Resource Development Review*, 7(2), 165-183. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1534484308314955
- 52. Weinberg, P. (2004). Formación profesional, empleo y empleabilidad. Foro mundial de Porto Alegre. Publicado en www. ilo. org. public/apanish/region/ampro/cinterfor/publ/sala/weinberg. Cited from: Arévalo & Contreras (2020).
- 53. Weligamage, S. S. (2009). Graduates' employability skills: Evidence from literature review. Sri Lanka: University of Kelaniya. Sub Theme A - Enhancing Employability through Quality Assurance - ASAIHL 2009, pp.115-125, https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Graduates%22-Employability-Skills%3A-Evidencefrom-Weligamage/9c7f17a8124a7aa836f0b3dbad26249efa40b9a6





- 54. Werner, H., Bennett, R., König, I. and Scott-Leuteritz, K., IAB English Glossary 2004, Begriffe und ihre Verwendung rund um den Arbeitsmarkt, Nuremberg, 2004. As cited in Weiler, A. (2005). Impact of training on people's employability. Dublin, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2005a, available online at: http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/htmlfiles/ef05110. htm.
- 55. Winterbotham M., Kik G., Selner S., Menys R., Stroud S. and Whittaker S. (2020) Employer Skills Survey 2019. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications.
- 56. Yorke, M. (2004) Employability in higher education: what it is what it is not. (York, Generic Centre, Learning and Teaching Support Network). Retrieve from http://www.ltsn.ac.uk/genericcentre/index.asp?docid=18968
- 57. Yorke, M., & Knight, P. T. (2006). Embedding employability into the curriculum (Vol. 3). York: Higher Education Academy. Available at <u>https://www.advance-he.ac.uk/knowledge-hub/embedding-employability-curriculum</u>

7 ANNEX 1 – SURVEY SHEET OF INITIAL SET OF INDICATORS REVIEWING

8 ANNEX 2 - PROCESSING OF INDICATOR ASSESSMENT RESULTS AFTER USING RACER METHOD

